No 70706-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KELLY BOWMAN,

Appellant/Plaintiff, v.

SUNTRUST MORTGAGE, INC., a Virginia Corporation, a subsidiary of SUNTRUST BANKS, INC.; FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION, a United States government sponsored enterprise; NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.; a Washington Corporation; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware Corporation; and DOE DEFENDANTS 1-10,

Respondents/Defendants.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

2014 FEB -4 AM 11: 30

KOVAC & JONES, PLLC Richard Llewelyn Jones WSBA No. 12904 Attorney for Appellant 2050 112th Ave NE Ste 230 Bellevue, WA 98004-2976 (425) 462-7322 rlj@kovacandjones.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred in accepting the testimony of Carmella T. Norman Young on summary judgment, in the absence of compliance with the provisions of *RCW* 5.45.020 and *ER* 803(a)(6).
- B. The trial court erred in refusing to continue the hearing on summary judgment to permit Plaintiff an opportunity to obtain discovery previously propounded to Respondents, pursuant to CR 56(f).
- C. The trail court erred in granting summary judgment and dismissing Plaintiff's claims in two separate orders entered July 12, 2013, pursuant to CR 56.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 5, 2008, Appellant, KELLY BOWMAN (hereinafter "Mr. Bowman") executed a Promissory Note in favor of Respondent, SUNTRUST BANK, INC., a Virginia Corporation, (hereinafter "SunTrust"), as lender and the party entitled to payments according to its terms. CP 18-20. To secure repayment of the Note, Mr. Bowman executed a Deed of Trust, pledging his home as collateral, named Washington Administrative Services, Inc., as trustee, and Respondent, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS,

INC. (hereinafter "MERS"), as beneficiary, solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender's successors and assigns. CP 22-36. It is significant to note that at no time prior to closing or any time thereafter was Mr. Bowman allowed to modify or re-negotiate any of the terms of the Deed of Trust. CP 292.

As of September 5, 2008, and at no time subsequent to September 5, 2008, did MERS, or Respondent, NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC. (hereinafter "NWTS") hold any valid legal interest in Mr. Bowman's Note or Deed of Trust. On information and belief, and unbeknownst to Mr. Bowman at the time, Respondent, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION (hereinafter "Fannie Mae") purchased Mr. Bowman's loan on October 1, 2008. CP 60 and 293. This purchase and sale of the Note and Deed of Trust was conceded by SunTrust in the Declaration of Carmella Young of April 26, 2013. CP 255.

On March 16th, 2012, Alicia James-Mickleberry, an employee of SunTrust, executed a Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust, on behalf of MERS, in her purported official capacity as a Vice President of MERS. This assignment was allegedly executed in exchange for "good and valuable consideration." No proof of payment of the stated consideration

was provided the trial court by Respondents at hearing on summary judgment. In addition to assignment of the subject Deed of Trust, this assignment appears to also assign the underlying note, which MERS never had an interest in: "... the Said Assignor [MERS] hereby assigns unto the above-named Assignee [SunTrust] . . . the said Deed of Trust having an original principal sum of \$417,000.00 with interest, secured thereby, with all moneys now owing or that may hereafter become due or owing in respect thereof. . ." CP 43 and 292-293. As noted above, at the time this Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust was executed, the subject obligation was actually owned by Fannie Mae. There was no evidence presented to the trial court at summary judgment that: (1) Fannie Mae was contacted or consulted by any Respondent named herein prior to execution of the Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trust; or (2) Fannie Mae ever expressly authorized execution of the Corporate Assignment of Deed of Trusts.

On July 23, 2012, SunTrust executed and delivered to NWTS a Beneficiary Declaration stating that it is "holder" of Mr. Bowman's Note. CP 171.

On August 14, 2012, NWTS issued a Notice of Default, as agent for SunTrust. CP 45-48. The Notice of Default alleged SunTrust to be the

"beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust", but also identifies SunTrust as the "servicer" and NWTS' "client". There is no explanation in the document for this apparent contradiction and confusion in terms and identity of the parties. Remarkably, the Notice of Default identifies, for the first time, Fannie Mae was the actual "owner" of the loan, although in other documents, Fannie Mae is identified as the "investor". CP 306. There was no evidence presented to the trial court at summary judgment that SunTrust was ever the owner and holder of the subject Note at any time after October 1, 2008 or that NWTS was ever an agent for the owner of the obligation, Fannie Mae. Moreover, there was no evidence presented to the trial court at summary judgment that: (1) Fannie Mae, as opposed to the other named Respondents, ever explicitly declared the loan to be in default or otherwise authorized any other named Respondents to so declare on its behalf; (2) Fannie Mae was contacted or consulted by any Respondent named herein prior to execution of the Notice of Default; or (2) Fannie Mae ever expressly authorized execution of the Notice of Default.

On November 5, 2012, SunTrust, as "present beneficiary" of the subject obligation, executed and recorded an Appointment of Successor

Trustee, appointing NWTS as successor trustee of the subject Deed of Trust. CP 53.

On November 29, 2012, NWTS recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale setting a Trustee's Sale date of March 29, 2013. CP 55-58. Although the Notice of Trustee Sale was executed by Nanci Lambert, in her capacity as Assistant Vice President for NWTS, on November 19, 2012, the document was not notarized until November 27, 2012, by Ashley A. Hogan. Submitted with the Notice of Trustee's Sale was a Notice of Foreclosure that did not substantially conform to RCW 61.24.040(2), in that it did failed to identify the "owner of the obligation", but identified SunTrust as the entity to whom Mr. Bowman was obligated, in contradiction to the statement contained in the Notice of Default of August 14, 2012 that declared the owner to be Fannie Mae. Please compare CP 47 with CR 497. There was no evidence presented to the trial court at summary judgment that: (1) Fannie Mae, as opposed to the other named Respondents, ever expressly declared the loan to be in default; (2) Fannie Mae was contacted or consulted by any Respondent named herein prior to execution of the Notice of Trustee's Sale; or (2) Fannie Mae ever expressly authorized execution of the Notice of Trustee's Sale.

On March 14, 2013, Mr. Bowman filed this action for violation of *RCW 61.24*, et seq. (hereinafter "DTA"), violation of *RCW 19.86*, et seq. (hereinafter "CPA); and violation of *RCW 9A.82*, et seq. CP 1-66.

On or about May 22, 2013, Respondents moved for summary judgment, pursuant to *CR 56*, to dismiss Mr. Bowman's claims, despite the existence of outstanding discovery and limited time to conduct depositions. CP 188-260; 300-563. Remarkably, in its pleadings in support of its motion for summary judgment, SunTrust offered a copy of Mr. Bowman's Note that bears an undated blank endorsement by SunTrust. CP 260.

On July 12, 2013, the trial court granted Respondents' motions for summary judgment. CP 716-720.

On July 13, 2013, Mr. Bowman filed a Notice of Appeal, seeking review of the trial court's Orders of July 12, 2013. CP 741-749.

On August 5, 2013, this Court filed its opinion in the matter of Walker v. Quality Loan Service Corp., 176 Wn.App. 294, 308 P.3d 716 (2013) (hereinafter "Walker").

III. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

A trial court's summary dismissal of claims under *CR* 56 is reviewed *de novo*, taking all inferences in the record in favor of the non-moving party. *Hayden v. Mutual of Enumclaw Insurance Co.*, 141 Wn.2d 55, 1 P.3d 1167 (2000); *Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Group, LLC*, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) (hereinafter "*Schroeder*") (citing *Dreiling v. Jain*, 151 Wn.2d 900, 93 P.3d 861 (2004); *Hauber v. Yakima County*, 147 Wn.2d 655, 56 P.3d 559 (2002); *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB*, 176 Wn.App 475, 485, 309 P.3d 636 (2013) (hereinafter "*Bavand*"). Summary judgment is only appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Balise v. Underwood*, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963); *Schroeder*; *Herring v. Texaco, Inc.*, 161 Wn.2d 189, 165 P.3d 4 (2007); *Bavand*, at page 485.

The initial burden on summary judgment is on the moving party to prove that no material issue is genuinely in dispute. *CR* 56. Sworn statements on summary judgment must be (1) made on personal knowledge, (2) setting forth facts as would be admissible in evidence and (3) showing affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated in the sworn statement. *Snohomish County v. Rugg*, 115 Wn.App. 218, 61 P.3d 1184 (2002); *Blomster v. Nordstrom*, 103 Wn.App.

252, 11 P.3d 883 (2000); Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn.App. 306, 945 P.2d 727 (1997).

In reviewing the evidence submitted on summary judgment, facts asserted by the non-moving party and supported by affidavits or other appropriate evidentiary material must be taken as true. *State ex rel Bond* v. *State*, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 (1963).

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach only one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Shows v. Pemperton*, 73 Wn.App. 107, 868 P.2d 164 (1994); *Doherty v. Munipality of Metro*, 83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P.2d 1098 (1996); *Goad v. Hambridge*, 85 Wn.App. 98, 931 P.2d 200 (1997). When there is contradictory evidence, or the moving parties' evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented and the Court should not resolve issues of credibility on summary judgment, but should reserve the issue of credibility for trial. *Balise v. Underwood*, *supra*.

B. The trial court erred in accepting the testimony of Carmella T. Norman Young.

On summary judgment, Respondents relied primarily on the Declaration of Carmella T. Norman Young. CP 254-260. However, Ms. Young's sworn statements failed to demonstrate sufficient personal and

testimonial knowledge of the facts she offered the trial court. She offered the trial court only her conclusory statement that she has "personal knowledge" and has reviewed the "records regularly kept by SunTrust," but failed to provide the trial court facts that would establish that (1) the computer equipment used by SunTrust is standard; (2) the identity of who compiled the information contained in the computer printouts; (3) a statement of how the information is maintained, (4) when the entries were made and whether they were made at or near the time of the happening or event; and (5) how SunTrust relies on these records. See RCW 5.45.020; State v. Smith, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and State v Kane, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). There were simply no facts offered the trial court that would justify the trial court's reliance on the information provided by Ms. Young, especially in view of the fact that Ms. Young has failed to define or describe the tasks customarily handled by her, or a "loan servicer" generally or actually done in this particular case for Fannie Mae. Absent a proper foundation, Ms. Young's testimony constitutes rank hearsay. See ER 803(a)(6) and RCW 5.45.020.

Under CR 56(e), conclusory statements or "mere averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge are insufficient to support a motion for summary judgment. Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc., 103 Wn.App. 252, 11

P.3d 883 (2000); Editorial Commentary to *CR 56* (citing *Antonio v. Barnes*, 464 F2d 584, 585 4th Cir. 1972).

Moreover, without a proper foundation, Ms. Young's testimony fails to meet the requirements of *CR 56(e)* that mandates supporting affidavits be "made on personal knowledge" setting forth such facts "as would be admissible in evidence" and affirmatively showing the "affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated." Since Ms. Young has failed to establish the basis of her knowledge, personal knowledge is lacking and her testimony should have been given no weight by the trial court. See *CR 56(e)*; *Loss v. DeBord*, 67 Wn.2d 318, 407 P.2d 421 (1965). Although Ms. Young asserts that SunTrust is the current loan servicer for Fannie Mae, nowhere does she identify the actual transaction (or any details) or any legal document from which this relationship arose or its terms.

Moreover, Ms. Young does not indicate how the records of SunTrust or its predecessors were kept or the basis of her knowledge of the same, aside from her bare conclusory statements. There is absolutely no basis upon which to rely on any of the statements contained in Ms. Young's Declaration. We know nothing about her actual activities or how she is qualified to speak to the issues she attempts to address, nor was there any showing that SunTrust was acting within the scope of any

authority granted by Fannie Mae, the basis of the purported accounting for the debt, the chain of custody for alleged possession of the Note, or the maintenance of the records. There is no factual basis upon which to gauge the reliability of Ms. Young's testimony. Since Ms. Young cannot verify the reliability of the business records she has produced or the basis and reliability of the information she provides, her testimony is at best hearsay and her Declaration should have been be stricken and ignored by the trial court.

C. Application of CR 56(f).

CR 56(f) provides as follows:

(f) When Affidavits Are Unavailable. Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot, for reasons stated, present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

In May of 2013, Mr. Bowman, through counsel, propounded Requests for Production to each of the above-named Respondents. CP 312-396.

On or about June 10, 2013, the Requests for Production to SunTrust were returned. CP 397-427. Little of value was provided due to Respondent's extensive use of boilerplate objections. See *Johnson v.*

Mermis, 91 Wn.App. 127, 955 P.2d 826 (1998). The only document produced was Mr. Bowman's loan file, which was not responsive to the specific discovery requests propounded. Moreover, the responses were not verified by any representative of SunTrust.

On the same day, the Requests for Production to NWTS were returned. CP 428-563. Like the responses from SunTrust, the responses from NWTS were of little value due to Respondent's use of boilerplate objections. See *Johnson v. Mermis*, *supra*. The only document produced was, again, Mr. Bowman's foreclosure file, which was not responsive to the specific discovery requests. Again, the responses were not verified by any representative of NWTS.

No responses to Mr. Bowman's discovery requests to Fannie Mae or MERS were received prior to hearing on summary judgment and remain outstanding. CP 303.

As argued by Mr. Bowman's counsel at hearing on summary judgment, without full and complete responses to Plaintiff's discovery requests, Mr. Bowman could not adequately defend against portions of Respondents' motion or seek additional affidavits in opposition to the motion. Accordingly, Respondents' motion for summary judgment should have been continued or denied without prejudice to permit Mr. Bowman

time to obtain the requested discovery, pursuant to CR 56(f). However, the trial court denied Mr. Bowman's request.

The trial court's refusal to provide Mr. Bowman additional time for discovery was particularly prejudicial because *RCW* 61.24.130 essentially reverses the typical burden of proof from the party initiating the foreclosure action to the party defending against the action. Instead of mortgage lenders, servicers and successor trustee's bearing the burden of proving their actions are consonant with the provisions of the DTA, the homeowner bears the burden of proving there has been a violation of the DTA. This requires the homeowner to seek from reluctant and/or recalcitrant institution/corporate players, information that only the they have within their possession and control – largely due to their reliance on organizations such as MERS.

Based upon the foregoing, the trial court should have granted Mr. Bowman additional time to "permit affidavits to be obtained", "depositions to be taken" or "discovery had", but did not do so. *CR 56(f)*. Accordingly, this Court should remand this matter back to the trial court for further consideration and to provide Mr. Bowman the opportunity to obtain the discovery denied to him by the trial court.

D. <u>Violations of the DTA.</u>

The Washington Supreme Court has often stated that the DTA must be strictly construed in the borrower's favor. Albice v. Premier Mortgages Services of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012) (hereinafter "Albice") (citing Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-916, 154 P.3d 882 (2007); Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 93, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter "Bain"); Schroeder, at page 105. See also In re Fritz, 225 BR 218 (E.D. Wash. 1997); Koegel v. Prudential Mut. Sav. Bank, 51 Wn. App. 108, 752 P.2d 385 (1988); Walker, at page 306; Bavand, at pages 485-486. Substantial compliance with the statutory provisions is not enough.

Strict compliance with the provisions of the DTA and construction of the statute in favor of the borrower is necessary and justified because "of the relative ease with which lenders can forfeit borrowers' interests and the lack of judicial oversight in conducting non-judicial foreclosure sales." *Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 789, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013) (hereinafter "*Klem*") (citing *Udall v. T.D. Escrow Serivces, Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-916, 154 P.3d 882 (2007)

On summary judgment, the trial court was presented a number of genuine issues of material fact in dispute as to lawfulness of Respondents' prosecution of a non-judicial foreclosure against Mr. Bowman and their strict compliance with the DTA. Relying largely on Respondents' arguments based on *Vawter v. Quality Loan Service Corp. of Washington*, 707 F.Supp.2d 1115 (W.D. Wash. 2010) (hereinafter "*Vawter*"), the trial court ignored these clearly apparent factual disputes.

 Only the true and lawful owner and holder of a Note and Deed of Trust can initiate a nonjudicial foreclosure.

Under the DTA only the duly authorized "beneficiary" has the right to declare a default, under RCW 61.24.030, or appoint a successor trustee, under RCW 61.24.010. RCW 61.24.005(2) defines the term "beneficiary" as the "holder of the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed of trust, excluding persons holding the same as security for a different obligation." As the court in Bain noted, the definition of "note-holder" has remained unchanged since the definitions were added to the DTA in 1998, and is consistent with certain portions of Article 3 of the UCC, as adopted by the Washington legislature. Bain, at pages 103-104. Article 3 holds that the person entitled to enforce the terms of a promissory note is the holder, a non-holder in possession, or transferee who obtains the right to enforce directly from the holder. RCW 62A.3-203. However, the DTA does not use the

additional Article 3 language regarding who may enforce. The DTA only refers to "the holder of the note or other obligation." *RCW* 61.24.005(2). Significantly, there is nothing in the DTA that would allow a non-holder, who might otherwise be able to enforce the terms of a note though other means under Article 3, to enforce the terms of the note through the initiation of a non-judicial foreclosure. *RCW* 61.24.005(2). Rather, it appears the legislature has specifically limited who may initiate a non-judicial foreclosure under the DTA and, until 2009, that was solely and exclusively the note-holder. *RCW* 61.24.005(2).

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