No. 70706-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

KELLY BOWMAN

Appellant,

VS.



Respondents

ANSWERING BRIEF OF RESPONDENT NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.

Submitted By:
Joshua S. Schaer, WSBA No. 31491
RCO LEGAL, P.S.
13555 S.E. 36th St., Suite 300
Bellevue, WA 98006
(425) 457-7810

ORIGINAL

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

² NWTS notes that its Motion for Summary Judgment did not rely exclusively on Ms. Young's testimony, and Bowman has not objected on appeal to either the Declaration of Alan Burton, Declaration of Counsel, Declaration of Jeff Stenman, or Declaration of Ashley Hogan. CP 234-238; CP 633-651.

³ Washington state courts interpret CR 56(f) consistently with its federal counterpart. *Turner v. Kohler*, 54 Wn. App. 688, 693 (1989) (looking to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(f)).

after Motions for Summary Judgment were already filed, and presumably for the purpose of bootstrapping the very CR 56(f) argument he then presented. *Compare* CP 188-238, CP 313-333, CP 429-563, CP 581,¶ 3. Bowman's CR 56(f) request offered no reason for this delay. CP 286-288.

Second, Bowman did not indicate how further discovery would be of assistance to him. *See Stranberg v. Lasz*, 115 Wn. App. 396, 406-407 (2003); *see also Molsness*, *supra*. at 401 (mere possibility that discoverable evidence exists is not sufficient). NWTS answered Bowman's CR 34 Requests for Production (the *only* discovery he attempted to seek from NWTS), and NWTS' responses were signed by counsel per CR 26(g). Despite Bowman's argument, CR 34 contains no "verification" requirement. *Cf.* Brief of Appellant at 11. Further, Bowman's counsel made no effort to confer about supposed deficiencies in NWTS' responses before implying that a discovery violation occurred. *Id.*; *cf.* CR 26(i).⁴

Third, Bowman did not identify how he was unable to "adequately

⁴ It is ironic that Bowman decries "boilerplate objections" when the requests themselves contain many of the same "boilerplate" and irrelevant demands that his counsel routinely uses in other foreclosure-avoidance litigation. See, e.g., Whitcomb v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, Case No. 11-2-24445-8 SEA (King Co. Sup. Ct.), Bavand v. OneWest, Case Nos. 11-2-04945-9, 11-2-05131-3 (Snohomish Co. Sup. Ct.), Butler v. OneWest, Adv. Case No. 12-01209-MLB (Bankr. W.D. Wash.).

defend against portions of Respondents' Motion" or what "portions" of the brief he could not defend. Brief of Appellant at 12. Indeed, Bowman presented a 29-page opposition to summary judgment, plus the trial court gave him an opportunity to submit supplemental declarations prior to the summary judgment hearing – which Bowman did in the form of a declaration from his counsel consisting of mostly legal argument and speculation. CP 261-290; CP 630-632; CP 671-712. Bowman demanded additional time for affidavits, depositions, and "discovery," but he has never stated how such activity would raise a genuine issue of material fact. Brief of Appellant at 12.

Fourth, Bowman's request was not properly noted for the trial court's consideration. He asserted the need for a continuance in responsive briefing, but did not note a motion. CP 286-288. This violates the King County Local Rules, requiring service and filing with a Note for Motion form. KCLR 7(b)(4 & 5). Bowman's application for more time was both substantively and procedurally infirm.

Bowman is right about one point, however: "the homeowner bears the burden of proving there has been a violation of the DTA [Deed of Trust Act]." *Id.* As the Plaintiff, it was solely Bowman's responsibility to possess evidence supporting his claims, not just conjecture, denials, and

assumptions, upon all of which Bowman's Complaint is based.

Bowman's desire to postpone summary judgment – even after NWTS responded to a fishing expedition involving 32 Requests for Production – was merely designed to drive up the cost of defending this litigation, and forestall a ruling that the Defendants acted in accordance with the law and based on the terms of the loan documents to which Bowman assented. Consequently, the trial court did not err in denying a CR 56(f) continuance and then rendering summary judgment in NWTS' favor.

C. The Trial Court's Grant of Summary Judgment to NWTS Should be Affirmed.

1. Standard of Review.

An order granting summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*, with the Court of Appeals engaging "in the same inquiry as the trial court." *Beaupre v. Pierce County*, 161 Wn.2d 568, 571, 166 P.3d 712 (2007). However, this Court may affirm the ruling below on any ground supported in the record, "even if the trial court did not consider the argument." *King County v. Seawest Inv. Associates, LLC*, 141 Wn. App. 304, 310, 170 P.3d 53, 56 (2007), *citing LaMon v. Butler*, 112 Wn.2d 193, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989).

Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions, together with affidavits, show no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See CR 56(c); see also Knox v. Microsoft Corp., 92 Wn. App. 204, 962 P.2d 839 (1998), rev. denied, 137 Wn.2d 1022, 980 P.2d 1280 (1999); Vacova Co. v. Farrell, 62 Wn. App. 386, 814 P.2d 255 (1991). With the motion, a trial court can consider "supporting affidavits and other admissible evidence based on personal knowledge." Id.

If the moving party demonstrates that an issue of material fact is absent, the nonmoving party must then articulate specific facts establishing a genuine issue for trial. *See Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.,* 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989); *see also* CR 56(e) ("an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but... must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial."). A genuine issue of material fact does not exist where insufficient evidence exists for a reasonable fact-finder to find for the non-moving party. *See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,* 477 U.S. 242, 248, 106 S.Ct. 2505 (1986).

Unsupported conclusory allegations, or argumentative assertions, are insufficient to defeat summary judgment. See Vacova Co., supra. at

395, citing Blakely v. Housing Auth. of King Cy., 8 Wn. App. 204, 505
P.2d 151, rev. denied, 82 Wn.2d 1003 (1973), Stringfellow v. Stringfellow,
53 Wn.2d 639, 335 P.2d 825 (1959); see also Trimble v. Wash. State
Univ., 140 Wn.2d 88, 93, 993 P.2d 259 (2000). "Ultimate facts,
conclusions of fact, or conclusory statements of fact are insufficient to
raise a question of fact." Id., citing Grimwood v. University of Puget
Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 753 P.2d 517 (1988); see also Baldwin v.
Sisters of Providence in Wash., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 127, 769 P.2d 298 (1989).
Summary judgment is appropriate if, after considering the evidence,
reasonable persons could reach only one conclusion. See Hansen v.
Friend, 118 Wn.2d 476, 824 P.2d 483 (1992), Wilson v. Steinbach, 98
Wn.2d 434, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982).

Here, Bowman failed to advance a genuine issue of material fact precluding NWTS from receiving summary judgment. As such, the trial court's order should be affirmed for the reasons set forth below.

- 2. <u>Bowman's Claim of Wrongful Foreclosure,</u> Violations of the DTA, and Declaratory Relief.
 - a. <u>SunTrust Has Been the Beneficiary Since</u> the Origination of Bowman's Loan.

This cause of action is predicated on Bowman's assertion that no

Defendant "had any right to initiate the non-judicial foreclosure...." CP 9

(Compl., ¶ 4.5). Not only does Bowman lack evidence to support this conclusion, but the documentation before the trial court on summary judgment firmly cuts against his position.

The DTA defines a beneficiary as "the *holder* of the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed of trust." RCW 61.24.005(2) (emphasis added).⁵ One becomes a note holder through possession of the instrument either payable to that party or to bearer. RCW 62A.3-201.⁶

The State Supreme Court expressly agrees that the UCC definition of "holder" is consistent with the term found in the DTA, stating in *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.*:

[t]he plaintiffs argue that our interpretation of the deed of trust act should be guided by these UCC definitions, and thus a beneficiary must either actually possess the promissory note or be the payee.... We agree. This accords with the way the term 'holder' is used across the deed of trust act and the Washington UCC.

⁵ Washington defines beneficiary strictly in the context of holding a note, not just receiving the beneficial interest in a deed of trust, such as the Oregon or Idaho Trust Deed Acts require. *Compare* RCW 61.24.005(2), ORS 86.705(2) ("Beneficiary means a person named or otherwise designated in a trust deed as the person for whose benefit a trust deed is given, or the persons successor in interest...."), I.C. § 45-1502(1) (same definition).

⁶ If a note is payable to bearer, it is negotiated by transfer of possession alone. *Id.* If a note is payable to an identified person, negotiation requires transfer of possession of the instrument and its indorsement by the holder. *Id.* This may be either a special indorsement, which identifies a person to whom the note is now payable, or a blank indorsement that makes the note bearer paper. RCW 62A.3-109.

175 Wn.2d 83, 104, 285 P.3d 34 (2012).⁷ Given that Washington's adoption of the UCC does not define "owner," and the DTA specifically equates "beneficiary" with "holder," Bowman is simply wrong that an owner and holder must be the same entity in order to non-judicially foreclose under Washington law.⁸

If there is negotiation of a note, or if the note remains held by the original payee, that holder possesses the right to enforce it, as well as the right to enforce any instrument securing the note's repayment, *e.g.*, a deed of trust. *See Kennebec, Inc. v. Bank of the West*, 88 Wn.2d 718, 724-25, 565 P.2d 812, 816 (1977); *Carpenter v. Longan*, 83 U.S. 271, 275, 21 L. Ed. 313 (1872). If the borrower defaults on the note, a secured party may

⁷ The term "holder" under the DTA is consistent with, but not exclusively governed by the UCC; otherwise, a Deed of Trust could only ever secure negotiable instruments, which is not the case. *See*, *e.g.*, *Rodgers v. Seattle-First Nat. Bank*, 40 Wn. App. 127, 129-30 & n.1, 697 P.2d 1009 (1985) (discussing notes secured by Deed of Trust, where the notes were not negotiable instruments).

⁸ See also John Davis & Co. v. Cedar Glen No. Four, Inc., 75 Wn.2d 214, 222–23 (1969) ("the holder of a negotiable instrument may sue thereon in his own name, and payment to him in due course discharges the instrument. It is not necessary for the holder to first establish that he has some beneficial interest in the proceeds.") (emphasis added, citation omitted); State Fin. Co. v. Moore, 103 Wash. 298, 174 P. 22 (1918); In re Veal, 450 B.R. 897, 912 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2011) ("one can be an owner of a note without being a holder."); Rouse v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 2013 WL 5488817 (W.D. Wash. October 2, 2013) ("courts have uniformly rejected that only the 'owner' of the note may enforce it."); Sherman v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 2012 WL 3071246 (W. D. Wash. July 29, 2012) (enforceability of note and deed of trust based on holder status, not ownership); RCW 62A.3-301 ("[a] person may be a person entitled to enforce the instrument even though the person is not the owner of the instrument....") (emphasis added); 11 Am. Jur. 2d Bills and Notes § 210 (2009) (discussing differences between a "holder" of a note, and an "owner" of a note).

exercise its rights under a deed of trust with respect to any property securing such obligation. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 62A.9A-203(g), RCW 62A.9A-308(e).

Bowman's joint response to the Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment consisted of legal arguments about MERS' authority, the identity of the Note's "owner," and guesswork about NWTS' execution of documents; but Bowman presented no proof to call the aforementioned facts into question, and he lacked any support for the allegation that Fannie Mae is really the beneficiary, *i.e.*, Note holder, entitled to foreclose. CP 261-290.

Rather, the evidence consistently and completely shows that

SunTrust held the Note when Bowman signed it, SunTrust held the Note
even after selling Bowman's loan to Fannie Mae, and SunTrust started
foreclosure proceedings when Bowman stopped paying the loan in June
2010. CP 235-236; CP 255. Thus, because SunTrust was the Note holder,
i.e. beneficiary, at the time foreclosure commenced, it did not act
"unlawfully." See In re Brown, 2013 WL 6511979 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. Dec.
12, 2013); cf. CP 10 (Compl., ¶ 4.7).9

⁹ The Complaint in *Brown* was notably similar to the Complaint in this action.

b. The Assignment of Deed of Trust is Irrelevant to the Propriety of Foreclosure.

A non-judicial foreclosure of owner-occupied residential real property in Washington includes: 1) issuing a Notice of Default (RCW 61.24.030), 2) recording an Appointment of Successor Trustee if applicable (RCW 61.24.010(2)), 3) possessing proof of the beneficiary's status (given only to a trustee, per RCW 61.24.030(7), not the borrower), 4) recording a Notice of Trustee's Sale (RCW 61.24.040), and 5) delivery and recording a Trustee's Deed to the purchaser at sale (RCW 61.24.050). Noticeably absent is any requirement to "prove" one's authority, or execute an Assignment of Deed of Trust. Indeed, *the word* "assignment" does not appear in the DTA requirements at all.

The purpose of an Assignment of Deed of Trust "is to put parties who subsequently purchase an interest in the property on notice of which entity owns a debt secured by the property." *Corales v. Flagstar Bank*, *FSB*, 822 F. Supp. 2d 1102 (W. D. Wash. 2011), *citing* RCW 65.08.070. In fact, "an Assignment of a deed of trust... is valid between the parties whether or not the assignment is ever recorded.... Recording of the

¹⁰ Despite Bowman's ease of initiating this case, the DTA is an alternative to judicial foreclosure as it authorizes the foreclosure of deeds of trust without the need for litigation. See Joseph L. Hoffmann, Comment, Court Actions Contesting the Nonjudicial Foreclosure of Deeds of Trust in Washington, 59 Wash. L. Rev. 323 (1984).

assignments is for the benefit of the parties." *In re United Home Loans*, 71 B.R. 885, 891 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. 1987). 11

But even if the Assignment were somehow relevant to the foreclosure process, it is simply an agreement between MERS and SunTrust, and *not* NWTS. *Accord Salmon v. Bank of Am. Corp.*, 2011 WL 2174554, *8 (E.D. Wash. May 25, 2011) ("there is no basis for the Court to find that the [borrowers'] rights under the First Deed of Trust were affected by the recording of the [MERS] Corporation of Assignment of Deed."). Therefore, Bowman's "questions of material fact" concerning the Assignment of Deed of Trust do not legitimately defeat the trial court's award of summary judgment to NWTS.

_

¹¹ See also Williams v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 2012 WL 72727 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 10, 2012); Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'n v. Wages, 2011 WL 5138724 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 28, 2011); St. John v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., 2011 WL 4543658 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 29, 2011) ("Washington State does not require recording of such transfers and assignments."); In re Reinke, 2011 WL 5079561, n. 10 (Bankr. W.D. Wash. Oct. 26, 2011) ("The WADOTA does not require that an assignment... be recorded in advance of the commencement of foreclosure.").

¹² Moreover, Bowman – who never even received the Assignment, and who is neither a party nor third-party beneficiary to it either – lacks standing to undermine the document's validity. See, e.g., Brummett v. Washington's Lottery, 171 Wn. App. 664, 678, 288 P.3d 48 (2012); Newport Yacht Basin Ass'n of Condo. Owners v. Supreme Nw., Inc., 168 Wn. App. 56, 80 (2012) (reversible error to hold stranger to contract had standing to challenge it); McGill v. Baker, 147 Wash. 394, 266 P. 138 (Wash. 1928) (only party to an assignment can challenge its validity); Ukpoma v. U.S. Bank, N.A., 2013 WL 1934172, *4 (E.D. Wash. May 9, 2013) (citing cases); Brodie v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc., 2012 WL 6192723 (E.D. Wash. 2012) (borrower lacks standing to attack a MERS assignment).

c. <u>Recent Case Law Does Not Help Bowman</u> Based on the Record in This Case.

Bowman's Opening Brief cites to certain recent opinions from this Court as persuasive authority, but each of those cases contained markedly different facts from the case at bar.

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